# Calvin's Practical View of Adoption: Its Privileges and Duties

The Privileges of Adoption: Maarten Kuivenhoven

The Duties Flowing from Adoption: Michael Dewalt

Michael Dewalt and Maarten Kuivenhoven Soteriology Dr. J.R. Beeke Puritan Reformed Theological Seminary April 23, 2009

## CONTENTS

| Chapter |   |
|---------|---|
| 1.      | INTRODUCTION  |
|         | The time is ripe to study Calvin  |
| 2.      | CALVIN AND ADOPTION   |
|         | The problems with Calvin and adoption in the ordo salutis                   |
|         | The necessity of studying Calvin's doctrine of adoption in his writings     |
| 3.      | THE PRIVILEGES OF ADOPTION  |
|         | Adoption assures the believer of God's fatherly electing grace              |
|         | Adoption comforts the believer with God's fatherly providence               |
|         | Adoption makes the believer an heir of salvation through Christ             |
|         | Adoption frees the child of God from bondage of the Law through Christ      |
|         | Adoption makes the believer part of the 'wonderful exchange' through Christ |
|         | Adoption comprehends the conformity of the believer to the image of Christ  |
|         | Adoption incorporates the believer into the family of God                   |
|         | Adoption is witnessed and sealed by the Spirit                              |
|         | Adoption obtains assurance for the believer through the work of the Spirit  |
|         | Adoption ensures a life of prayer by the Spirit                             |
|         | Adoption ensures a life of sanctification through the Spirit                |
| 4.      | THE DUTIES OF ADOPTION  |
|         | Adoption calls one to live as a child of God                                |
|         | Adoption calls one to live a life of suffering                              |
|         | Adoption calls one to live a prayerful life                                 |
|         | Adoption calls one to live a life that is in pursuit of holiness            |

### I. Introduction

On June 25<sup>th</sup>, 1944, *The Doctor*—Martyn Lloyd-Jones—gave a radio address for the BBC in Wales on the man, John Calvin. He began with the statement: Nothing is more significant of the great change which has happened in the field of theology during the past twenty years than the place now afforded, and the attention given, to the great man of Geneva who is the subject of this address.<sup>1</sup> The same can be said for America today, as the resurgence of Calvinism—both the New-Calvinist and the Old—is growing faster, larger, and deeper into the roots of Evangelical Theology since the Great Awakening in the 1700s. Lloyd-Jones went on in his address, noting that, "Up to almost twenty years ago there was very little attention paid to John Calvin, and when someone spoke of him it was in order to heap insults on him scornfully."<sup>2</sup> The former part of this statement essentially summarizes the standpoint of America in the past fifty to eighty years. Unfortunately, with the climax of *Dispensationalism* between the 1950s and 1970s, and with the growth of evangelical phenomena such as *Fundamentalism*, the *Mega-Church* movements, and *Seeker-Friendly* 

ideals, John Calvin and the Calvinist-Reformed Faith as a whole was laid aside. If it was

brought up for discussion, it was laughed at as though it was a cult of some sort.

However, as Lloyd-Jones affirmed further in his address:

That is not the situation today. In fact, there is more mention of him than there has been for almost a century, and Calvin and Calvinism are the subjects of many arguments and debates in theological circles... The time is ripe, therefore, for us to cast another glance at this man who has influenced the life of the world to such an extent.<sup>3</sup>

And so we see a rising tide of Calvinism in America today. By the end of this year alone there will have been more books published, and more conferences and addresses given—

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Martyn Lloyd-Jones, *Knowing the Times: Addresses Delivered on Various Occasions 1942-1977.* (Carisle, PA: Banner of Truth Trust, 1989), 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ibid., 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ibid., 32-3.

that is, more than *ever*—on the man who, in my opinion, is the greatest theologian of all time: John Calvin. And like *The Doctor*, I say, "The time is ripe." We have gathered here in Geneva for the 500<sup>th</sup> birthday of John Calvin—not merely to popularize him or idolize him, because Calvin would have never wanted that. We are here, rather, to make known and lift up John Calvin's God—our God—The Supreme Being, The LORD who sits in authority and reigns over all things in complete sovereignty. I would like to consider an important, yet often neglected aspect of John Calvin's theology as it finds expression in his vast corpus of writings – the doctrine of adoption.

### **II.** John Calvin and Adoption

At the heart of John Calvin's theology and undergirding his development of the *ordo salutis* is the doctrine of adoption. Many scholars note that Calvin does not treat adoption as a separate locus in his systematic theology and magnum opus, *The Institutes of the Christian Religion*. This is due in part to the fact that Calvin weaves the doctrine throughout the tapestry of God's marvelous work in the salvation of sinners. The doctrine of adoption is not peripheral, but rather central to Calvin's theology as noted by Sinclair Ferguson who states that "students of Calvin's theology have too rarely recognized how important the concept of sonship was to his understanding of the Christian life."<sup>4</sup> Having said this, Timothy Trumper's unpublished dissertation on the doctrine of adoption in the Calvinistic tradition fills a lacuna in the study of Calvin's theology of adoption<sup>5</sup>, nevertheless, a detailed study of the privileges and duties of adoption is useful.

The doctrine of adoption is not restricted to the *Institutes* per se, but one must rather glean the riches of Calvin's view of adoption from his entire corpus of writings including his commentaries and sermons. Having done this, one comes to the conclusion that the doctrine of adoption was very real in the life of John Calvin and he sought to instill the beauty and riches of adoption in those people to whom he ministered. Christ's Church today receives the legacy of Calvin's view of adoption, which speaks doctrinally and experientially to the life of the believer. This paper will seek to examine Calvin's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sinclair Ferguson, *The Reformed Doctrine of Sonship, in Pulpit and People, Essays in Honor of William Still*, Nigel M. DeS. Cameron and Sinclair B. Ferguson, Eds. (Edinburgh: Rutherford House, 1986) pp. 81-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Timothy J. R. Trumper, "An Historical Study of the Doctrine of Adoption in the Calvinistic Tradition" (Ph.D. diss., University of Edinburgh, 2001), passim.

corpus of writings and demonstrate the treasure house of the privileges and duties of adoption for the believer.

### **III.** The Privileges of Adoption

The blessings and privileges outlined in Calvin's theology of adoption are many and varied. It is helpful to organize these privileges under a Trinitarian rubric: paternal privileges given especially by the Father, fraternal privileges given especially by the Son and spiritual privileges given especially by the Holy Spirit. This Trinitarian framework of adoption in Calvin's theology is succinctly summarized by Sinclair Ferguson when he writes, "But for Calvin, piety meant recognizing that our lives are nourished by God's *Fatherly* care; it meant knowing oneself to be a child of God. Similarly, Calvin saw the purpose of the incarnation and atonement to be the adoption of Christians. Consequently, the 'first title' of the Spirit is 'Spirit of adoption'."<sup>6</sup> There are also other categories which work on a sub-level within the Trinitarian rubric: covenantal privileges and eschatological privileges.<sup>7</sup> The privileges that the adopted children of God receive are rich and find their full expression in the redemptive and applicatory work of the Father, Son and Holy Spirit.<sup>8</sup>

The fountainhead of adoption and its privileges in Calvin's thought is found in God the Father. Specifically the privileges that the adopted child of God receives are the comfort of the Father's providence and the assurance received through the Father's electing grace.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Sinclair Ferguson, *The Reformed Doctrine of Sonship*, 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> For a further delineation of these categories see Nigel Westhead, "Adoption in the Thought of John Calvin," *The Scottish Bulletin of Evangelical Theology*, 13 (Fall 1995): 102-115 and Howard Griffith, "The First Title of the Spirit: Adoption in Calvin's Soteriology," *Evangelical Quarterly* 73:2 (2001): 135-153.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This paper speaks strictly of redemptive sonship. Westhead notes that Calvin denies natural sonship and God's universal Fatherhood in the context of creation, but resoundingly affirms redemptive sonship as it finds expression in the electing and redeeming grace of God through Jesus Christ in the context of soteriology. For a further discussion see Nigel Westhead, "Adoption in the Thought of John Calvin," *Scottish Bulletin of Evangelical Theology* 13 (Fall 1995): 103-104.

Adoption assures the believer of God's Fatherly electing grace. The electing grace of the Father almost becomes synonymous in Calvin's writings with the doctrine of adoption. He does not clearly delineate between these two concepts but rather merges them to show how adoption becomes a confirmation of election. Howard Griffith in his article clearly proves that election and adoption are closely tied in Calvin's thought when he states:

It is quite clear that Calvin's intention was to use the biblical teaching on election as Scripture does: in the service of assurance for believers. Election was dangerous and only a snare when considered abstractly. But if for the sake of the analysis of Calvin's own thinking, we think of it first, it is fascinating to notice that Calvin repeatedly refers to election as God's *adoption* of the believer. This is not just the slip of a pen: Calvin repeats it often.<sup>9</sup>

Adoption can be conceived of as the rearview mirror if you will, confirming the electing grace of the Father in the life of the believer. The close relationship of election and adoption serves to assure the believer that he is indeed a child of God.

In his *Sermons on Election and Reprobation*, Calvin closely links election and adoption when he says, "So, when our Lord engraveth his fear in our hearts by his holy spirit, and such an obedience towards him, as his Children ought to perform unto him, this is as if he should set upon us the seal of his election, and as if he should truly testify that he hath adopted us and that he is a Father unto us."<sup>10</sup> Throughout the *Institutes* he makes several references to the close relation between election and adoption where free election by the grace of God becomes the ground of the believer's adoption. He states, "We were adopted in Christ into the eternal inheritance because in ourselves we were not capable of such great excellence."<sup>11</sup> Furthermore, man cannot renovate himself to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Griffith, "The First Title of the Spirit," 138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> John Calvin, *John Calvin's Sermons on Election and Reprobation*, trans. John Field (Audubon, NJ: Old Paths Publications, 1996), 98-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> John Calvin, *Institutes of the Christian Religion*, ed. J.T. McNeill; trans. Ford Lewis Battles; Library of Christian Classics (Philadelphia: Westminster John Knox, 1960), 3. 22.1.

receive the adoption of sons, nor is adoption because of any foreseen merit on God's part, because "God's special election towers and rules over all, alone ratifying his adoption."<sup>12</sup>

This assurance of election is further buttressed in his Sermons on Ephesians where he says, "When he [Paul] says that God has predestinated us by adoption, it is to show that if we be God's children it is not through nature but through his pure grace...For we have no such status by birth or inheritance, neither does it come of flesh and blood."<sup>13</sup> The assurance this affords the believer is that it is by the grace of God in Jesus Christ that they are adopted into the family of God and thus "they whom he calls to salvation ought not to seek the cause of it anywhere else than in this gratuitous adoption."<sup>14</sup> Calvin continues speaking of the assurance that election and adoption affords the believer:

Whosoever then believes is thereby assured that God has worked in him, and faith, as it were, the duplicate copy that God gives us of the original of our adoption... It follows then that if we have faith, we are also adopted. For why does God gives us faith? Even because he elected us before the creation of the world. This therefore is an infallible order, that insofar as the faithful receive God's grace and embrace his mercy, holding Jesus Christ as their Head, to obtain salvation in this way, they know assuredly that God has adopted them.<sup>15</sup>

Far from declaring God's election to be cold, calculating and deterministic, Calvin ties election and adoption closely together showing the comfort and warmth that can be derived from doing so. Election becomes the ground of adoption, and thus offers assurance to the child of God that he really is one of God's children. The root of adoption is not found in the believer, but in God the Father, through Jesus Christ.

Adoption comforts the believer with God's Fatherly providence. Upon adoption,

the believer is not left to fend for himself, but comes under the Fatherly providence of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Ibid., 3.22.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> John Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Ephesians, trans. Arthur Golding (Carlisle, PA: Banner of Truth, 1973), 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Ibid., 43. <sup>15</sup> Ibid., 47.

God. This Fatherly providence comforts and offers care in the midst of a world that seems to say that it cares, and it offers protection in the face of governments that seem to say that they care and protect its citizens. While not relating it to adoption specifically, Calvin demonstrates that the providence of God includes both material or natural, as well as spiritual blessings:

That not only does he sustain this universe (as he once founded it) by his boundless might, regulate it by his wisdom, preserve it by his goodness, and especially rule mankind by his righteousness and judgment, bear with it in his mercy, watch over it by his protection; but also that no drop will be found either of wisdom and light, or of righteousness or power or rectitude, or of genuine truth, which does not flow from him and of which he is not the cause.<sup>16</sup>

Furthermore, "though God is merciful to all the world, he is yet more merciful to his children... He cares for and feeds his children, but not with more bounty than is good for them."<sup>17</sup> God's providence includes not only good things, but also the rod of correction. The unbeliever sees these things as negative, but the child of God sees it as the rod of the Father's correction, bearing the stamp of his love.

Calvin applies the doctrine of adoption by way of contrast, demonstrating how the doctrine of adoption functions in the life of the believer, but also serves to provoke the unbeliever to jealousy in regards to God's paternal care. The wicked are subject to torments, trembling and a lack of assurance that "God beareth a fatherly affection unto him."<sup>18</sup> In addressing the believer about the privilege of being under the providence of God, Calvin counsels believers not to be lulled into sleep as a child of God but "Let us learn to keep ourselves in that favor and testimony that we have, that in that he hath adopted us for his children, he will always show himself a father towards us."<sup>19</sup> It is when the believer learns to keep himself in this frame of soul that "it is certain that we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion. 1.2.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Wallace and Calvin quoted in Howard Griffith, "The First Title of the Spirit," 150.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Election and Reprobation, 198.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Ibid., 199.

shall overcome all fear...God is with us, and that we are well assured against all evil."<sup>20</sup> God's providence includes "protecting, guiding, confirming, using, supporting, governing, mortifying, keeping, delivering, and increasing his children."<sup>21</sup> Having been chosen and adopted by the Father, the believer now comes under the Father's care and providence receiving the title of heir to a vast spiritual treasury. Calvin notes that "When a man adopts a child he chooses him to be his heir, and all the goods that he has afterwards are passed on under that title. So it is with us who are heirs of the heavenly life because God has adopted and chosen us for his children."<sup>22</sup>

Perhaps the greatest privilege that a child of God receives upon adoption is Christ, the Son of the Father. Christ becomes the treasure and focus of an adopted child of God with all the privileges that Christ gives. Christ is the apex, the agent, and the achiever of the believer's adoption. As seen earlier in Calvin's thought election played a prominent role in the believer's adoption, but that election is in Christ. Outside of Christ, election is not possible, nor would the adoption of children be possible.

Adoption makes the believer an heir of salvation through Christ. The adopted child of God becomes the recipient of salvation through Christ, for "the name of Christ excludes all merit, and everything which men have of their own."<sup>23</sup> Christ's merits, through His obedience, death and resurrection, are what secure the believer's adoption. This is clear from Calvin's writing on the purpose of why God had to become man. He had to become man to rescue us from our self-made hell, to conquer death, and to procure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Ibid., 199.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Trumper, "An Historical Study of the Doctrine of Adoption in the Calvinistic Tradition," 180.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Ephesians, 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> John Calvin, *Calvin's Commentaries on Ephesians*, Vol. 21 (Grand Rapids, MI: Baker, 2005 reprint), 198.

salvation for his people.<sup>24</sup> This too, serves the believer's assurance of salvation and heir to the Kingdom, "for the Son of God, to whom it wholly belongs, has adopted us as his brothers."<sup>25</sup> This work of salvation was achieved through the Incarnation, when "ungrudgingly he took our nature upon himself to impart to us what was his, and to become both Son of God and Son of man in common with us."<sup>26</sup>

In his application of the doctrine of adoption, it must be noted that Calvin was discriminatory, opening up its comforts to believers, but also preserving this doctrine from those who would abuse it in unbelief. This discriminatory note can be detected when he cautions that the Incarnation must not be used to automate adoption. Just because Christ came in human flesh does not mean that all are the children of God. He argues rightly that "when we say that Christ was made man that he might make us children of God, this expression does not extend to all men. For faith intervenes, to engraft us spiritually into the body of Christ."<sup>27</sup>

The fact that the believer becomes an heir of Christ also has eschatological dimensions. Although this is present in the Pauline doctrine of adoption, Calvin also brings it out in the Johannine complement of the same doctrine. He clearly brings out the 'now-not yet' tension of the enjoyment of the inheritance that believers receive through adoption. In his Commentary on 1 John, especially 1 John 3:2, Calvin notes that the believer's condition as an adopted child of God has not yet reached full fruition and the believer is subject to death, misery, and all manner of evil. He counsels the believer to consider the privileges that yet await being stored up in heaven, looking to the coming of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Calvin, *Institutes of the Christian Religion*. 2.12.2.
<sup>25</sup> Ibid., 2.12.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Ibid., 2.12.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Ibid., 2.13.2.

Christ which sustains faith, "because the fruit of our adoption is as yet hid, for in heaven is our felicity, and we are now far away travelling on the earth."<sup>28</sup> This tension is also apparent in his *Commentary on Romans* in which he highlights the fact that the believer's inheritance through adoption will be fully realized in the future. He states that "we shall partake of it in common with the only-begotten Son of God," which requires patience and endurance in the present Christian life.<sup>29</sup>

Adoption frees the child of God from bondage of the Law through Christ. This discussion finds a prominent place in Calvin's treatment of adoption and the law in his *Commentary on Galatians.* The fact that Christ was subjected to the law was for the benefit of his children. He did so freely, choosing "to become liable to keep the law, that exemption from it might be obtained for us."<sup>30</sup> Calvin clearly cautions however, that freedom from the law in Christ does not necessitate abrogation of the law as a rule for the life of the believer, an issue which will be discussed under the duties of adoption.<sup>31</sup> Under the Old Covenant, the believers did not yet enjoy the fruit of adoption – freedom from the bondage of the law through its ceremonies and appendages. The New Testament believer under the covenant of grace now enjoys the privilege of freedom from the law in that Christ is now his righteousness. Calvin argues within a covenantal framework that "the fathers, under the Old Testament, were certain of their adoption, but did not so fully as yet enjoy their privilege."<sup>32</sup> The freedom from the law that the believer now enjoys through adoption is different because this fruit of adoption is fully

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> John Calvin, *Calvin's Commentaries on 1 John*, Vol. 22 (Grand Rapids, MI: Baker, 2005 reprint), 204-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> John Calvin, *Calvin's Commentaries on Romans*, Vol. 19 (Grand Rapids, MI: Baker, 2005 reprint),

<sup>301.</sup> <sup>30</sup> John Calvin, *Calvin's Commentaries on Galatians*, Vol. 21 (Grand Rapids, MI: Baker, 2005 reprint), 119 <sup>31</sup> Ibid., 119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Ibid., 119.

realized in Christ. Calvin is careful not to disown Old Testament believers as children of God, for he says, "The ancients were also sons of God, and heirs through Christ, but we hold the same character in a different manner; for we have Christ present with us, and in that manner enjoy his blessings."<sup>33</sup>

The character of this freedom from the law is clearly seen in his *Institutes* where he speaks of Christ being made a curse for us quoting Galatians 3:13 and Deuteronomy 27:26.<sup>34</sup> He goes on to directly connect the adoption of sons and the freedom from the law so that "we should not be borne down by an unending bondage, which would agonize our consciences with the fear of death."<sup>35</sup> The freedom that the believer enjoys is freedom from conscience, because Christ has been made a curse on his behalf. Furthermore, this freedom is realized in the fact that all the ceremonial laws have been abolished in Christ.<sup>36</sup>

Adoption makes the believer part of the 'wonderful exchange' through Christ. In his article, "Adoption in the Thought of John Calvin," Nigel Westhead lists this wonderful exchange as part and parcel of adoption. The substance of this exchange is best seen in Calvin's own words in discussing the fruits of the Lord's Supper:

This is the wonderful exchange which, out of his measureless benevolence, he has made with us; that, becoming Son of man with us, he has made us sons of God with him; that , by his descent to earth, he has prepared an ascent to heaven for us; that, by taking on our mortality, he has conferred his immortality upon us; that, accepting our weakness, he has strengthened us by his power; that, receiving our poverty unto himself, he has transferred his wealth to us; that, taking the weight of our iniquity upon himself (which oppressed us), he has clothed us with his righteousness.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Ibid., 122. This discussion takes place in Calvin's discussion of adoption within the Old and New Covenants. He traces the biblical theological progression of adoption from the Old to the New Testaments. For further study see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion. 2.7.15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Ibid., 2.7.15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Ibid., 2.7.16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Ibid., 4.17.2.

This is the wonderful exchange that the believer enjoys as part of being an adopted child of God.

Adoption comprehends the conformity of the believer to the image of Christ. The Apostle Paul speaks about Christ being the prototype of all the sons of God, "For whom he did foreknow, he also did predestinate *to be* conformed to the image of his Son, that he might be the firstborn among many brethren" (Rom. 8:29 AV). Calvin highlights this as being one of the greatest privileges that the believer enjoys as being an adopted son of God. He writes, "God had so determined that all whom he has adopted should bear the image of Christ…that he might teach us that there is in Christ a living and conspicuous exemplar, which is exhibited to God's children for imitation."<sup>38</sup> Elsewhere he writes that "the final end of our adoption is, that what has in order preceded in Christ, shall at length be completed in us…we have eyes prepared to see God."<sup>39</sup> This conforming to Christ's image will prepare the believer to behold Christ in his glory, removing impurities, weaknesses and sin.

Adoption incorporates the believer into the family of God. When a child of God is adopted, his allegiances change. The devil is no longer his father, but God is His Father through Jesus Christ, and he leaves the sinful family behind and joins the family of God. In his *Sermons on Micah*, Calvin poses the question, "For who are we, that God should honor us by taking us into his own house? For when God decided to adopt us as his children, that already constituted an honor that overshadowed all the possible honors of this world."<sup>40</sup> This new family or "dwelling place of God's children is more to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Calvin, Calvin's Commentaries on Romans, 318.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Calvin, Calvin's Commentaries on 1 John, 205-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> John Calvin, *Sermons on the Book of Micah*, trans. and ed. by Benjamin Wirt Farley (Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing, 2003), 193.

desired than anything else in the world."<sup>41</sup> The church is part of the family of God and takes a prominent place in Calvin's theology. If God is the believer's Father, then the church is the believer's mother, the arena in which the believer is conceived, given life, and nourished.<sup>42</sup> The church is where God's children receive God's fatherly love and the "especial witness of the spiritual life."<sup>43</sup> Calvin's doctrine of adoption shows the privilege of belonging to God's family both on a vertical plane, having God as Father, and a horizontal plane, being joined to the church and the family of God.

The third part of the framework in which Calvin develops the doctrine of adoption is centered on the Spirit and his role in adoption. The Spirit cannot and must not be divorced from the doctrine of adoption, and Calvin develops this third section in a biblical manner, drawing out the beauty and assistance that the Spirit offers to the believer as an adopted child of God.

Adoption is witnessed and sealed by the Spirit. Calvin confirms in his *Tracts* that the Spirit is the witness, seal and earnest of the believer's adoption.<sup>44</sup> Scripture calls the Holy Spirit, the Spirit of adoption because "he is the witness to us of the free benevolence of the God with which God the Father has embraced us in his beloved only-begotten Son to become a Father to us."<sup>45</sup> This witness of the Spirit of the believer's adoption is a cowitness. This co-witness takes place when the Spirit "testifies to us, that we are the children of God, he at the same time pours into our hearts such confidence, that we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Ibid., 193.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion, 4.1.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Ibid., 4.1.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> John Calvin, *Calvin's Selected Works: Tracts, Part 3*, Vol. 3, trans. Henry Beveridge (Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Book House, 1983), 154.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion, 3.1.3.

venture to call God our Father.<sup>46</sup> The ensuing privilege of the child of God is then assurance.

Adoption obtains assurance for the believer through the work of the Spirit. This fruit is really bound up closely with the preceding privilege of adoption, that the believer has the Spirit as his witness. They are almost inseparable because as the Spirit witnesses to the heart, the believer is assured that he is a child of God. Calvin ties these two concepts together in his comments on Romans 8:16 where he says that "the Spirit of God gives us such a testimony, that when he is our guide and teacher, our spirit is made assured of the adoption of God: for our mind of its own self, without the preceding testimony of the Spirit, could not convey to us this assurance."<sup>47</sup> This is corroborated in the statement that this assurance issues forth in a cry to God.<sup>48</sup> While adoption affords assurance of God's electing grace in the life of the believer, the Spirit works that assurance in the heart of God's adopted children.<sup>49</sup>

*Adoption ensures a life of prayer by the Spirit.* The life of prayer for the child of God is worked by the Holy Spirit. Calvin argues that it is through Christ and his work that the believer can now enter boldly before God and pray because the veil has been torn away between sinners and God through Christ's ministry of reconciliation.<sup>50</sup> It is however, the Spirit that works boldness in the hearts of believers to go to God in prayer through Christ, and Calvin highlights the necessity of enlisting the help of the Spirit in prayer.<sup>51</sup> The Spirit assists the believer despite their weaknesses in prayer, "if we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Calvin, Calvin's Commentaries on Romans, 299.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Ibid., 299.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Election and Reprobation, 286.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Ibid., 312.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Galatians, trans. Kathy Childress (Carlisle, PA: Banner of Truth, 1997), 374.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Ibid., 374.

remember that God is still our Father and that we must seek refuge in him."<sup>52</sup> With the witness and testimony of the Spirit with the believer's spirit comes true prayer. This is affirmed when Calvin argues from biblical evidence that unless the Spirit testifies in our hearts, working confidence regarding the Father's love, "our tongues would be dumb, so that they could utter no prayers."<sup>53</sup> Right prayer issues forth from Spirit-worked assurance.

Calvin succeeds in demonstrating that this Spirit of prayer is not only present in the New Testament but also in the Old. The ministry of the Spirit of adoption is effectual for the Old Testament saints as well. He illustrates this effectively in the life and prayer of the prophet Habakkuk. The prophet prays in Habakkuk 3:1-2 for God to revive his work. This is nothing else than an appeal using the "favour of adoption." He continues that the prophet "thus confesses that there was no reason why God should forgive his people except that he had been pleased freely to adopt them and to choose them as his peculiar people."<sup>54</sup> Calvin uses Habakkuk as a model for the prayer life of the adopted child of God when he says, "Now we have this in common with the ancient people, that God adopts us...We may therefore adopt this form of prayer, which is prescribed for us by the Holy Spirit."55

The Holy Spirit does not only aid in individual prayer for the people of God of certain ethnicity and language, but prayer can be offered by any person of any ethnicity or language. This is illustrated by the Spirit-indicted cry, "Abba, Father." In using this phrase, Calvin uniquely argues that the adoption is both to the Jew and Gentile. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Ibid., 374.
<sup>53</sup> Calvin, *Calvin's Commentaries on Romans*, 299.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Calvin, Calvin's Commentaries on Habakkuk, Vol. 15 (Grand Rapids, MI: Baker, 2005 reprint), 138. <sup>55</sup> Ibid., 138.

word Abba is Hebrew and the word Father is in Greek demonstrating that "we can call upon God in any language, as with one voice, confident that God will receive us now that we have the liberty to address him."<sup>56</sup> The Spirit's witness in prayer is an integral part of the believer's privilege of praying with boldness since as Griffith notes so well, "conviction of God's holiness and our sin would preclude having the faith to call God 'Father,' apart from the witness of the Spirit of adoption in our hearts."<sup>57</sup>

Adoption ensures a life of sanctification through the Spirit. The adopted believer has the Holy Spirit as his witness and seal, and the Spirit has engraved the promises of God upon our hearts, namely the fact that "we see and feel by experience that God has adopted us and tells us that the assurance he has given us and daily gives us by his gospel, namely, that he will be our Father."<sup>58</sup> In his doctrine of adoption, Calvin sees the Spirit leading the believer onwards and upwards to a life of sanctification. He says that "we have a good and infallible pledge that God will guide us to the end, and that since he had begun to lead us into the way of salvation, he will bring us to perfection to which he calls us, because, in truth, without him we could not continue so much as a single day."<sup>59</sup>

Through the Spirit's witness and indwelling the child of God has a Paraclete, a Strengthener and Sustainer for the life of sanctification. Calvin notes that:

The Spirit is freely given for the believer's sanctification, another high privilege belonging to the child of God. The graces of sanctification are bestowed by the Spirit

Wherever the Spirit is, he necessarily manifests his power and efficiency...it hence appears that we are God's children, that is, when his Spirit rules and governs our life...whatever good works are done by us, proceed from the grace of the Spirit, and that the Spirit is not obtained by our righteousness, but is freely given to us.<sup>60</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Galatians, 381.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Griffith, "The First Title of the Spirit," 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Ephesians, 48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Ibid., 48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Calvin, Calvin's Commentaries on 1 John, 227.

alone, and "whomever therefore, God receives into grace, he at the same time bestows the Spirit of adoption, by whose power he remakes them to his own image."<sup>61</sup>

Calvin's doctrine of adoption is a clear and unmistakable part of his soteriology. Although he does not develop a specific chapter on adoption in his *Institutes*, he develops it throughout his vast corpus of writings. In doing so, he brings out the beautiful experiential realities and privileges of adoption for the child of God as they are found in God the Father, God the Son, and God the Holy Spirit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion, 3.11.6.

#### **IV.** The Duties that Flow from Adoption

John Calvin gives a fundamental description of adoption, stating that it is "not the cause merely of a partial salvation, but bestows salvation entire."<sup>62</sup> Calvin saw that adoption was related to all of salvation—including predestination, election, calling, and justification. For John Calvin, adoption was what brought the sinner into the arms of the Father. Garret A.Wilterdink states, "For Calvin, adoption into the family of God is synonymous with salvation."<sup>63</sup> This meant for Calvin that adoption happens when salvation occurs in the heart of the new believer. Calvin did not separate adoption from the act of what God does in the heart of the sinner. To understand this view, it is vital to see how salvation and adoption go hand-in-hand. It is not possible to be saved and yet not be adopted. In the same manner, one cannot be adopted without being saved. Calvin saw this as being an essential truth, and also saw that the implications of this in the life of a believer are of extreme importance in how one is to live as a saved, adopted son or daughter of their heavenly Father.

The doctrine of adoption plays a major role in Calvin's tracts, letters, sermons, *Institutes*, and most importantly, his commentaries. Timothy Trumper states, "It is increasingly apparent that the commentaries are indispensable to an appreciation of Calvin's theology of adoption."<sup>64</sup> When one considers Calvin's development of adoption he begins by stating that it is motivated by the Father's electing grace in Christ. This is best seen through Calvin's own words:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> John Calvin, "The True Method of Giving Peace to Christendom, and of the Reforming Church", in *Calvin's Selected Works: Tracts*, 275.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Garret A Wilterdink, "The Fatherhood of God in Calvin's Thought," in *Calvin's Theology, Theology Proper, Eschatology*, Vol. 9 of *Articles on Calvin and Calvinism*, ed. Richard Gamble (New York: Garland Publishing Inc., 1992), 185.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Trumper, "An Historic Study of the Doctrine of Adoption in the Calvinistic Tradition," 47.

It is not from a perception of anything that we deserve, but because our heavenly Father has introduced us, through the privilege of adoption, into the body of Christ. In short, the name of Christ excludes all merit, and everything which men have of their own; for when he says that we are chosen in Christ, it follows that in ourselves we are unworthy.<sup>65</sup>

Calvin saw that adoption was designed for the glory of God, in that those saved by the gospel are then to live for the glory of God in holiness, purity, and doing every deed in obedience to honor their heavenly Father. To Calvin, adoption was not just a blessing; he knew that the privileges that were given to the believer upon the act of adoption came with responsibilities. Calvin saw adoption not only as a promised inheritance for believers, but also as a way in which believers are to think, live, and transform their new life according to the Word of God.

Adoption calls one to live as a child of God. Calvin states at the beginning of his third sermon on the first chapter of Ephesians:

I began to show you earlier that it is not lawful for us to indulge in loose living with the excuse that God has elected us before the creation of the world, as though it were right for us to give ourselves over to all manner of evil, because we cannot perish, seeing that God has taken us for his children. For we must not put things asunder which he has couple together. Seeing that he has chosen us to be holy and to walk in purity of life, our election must be as root that yields good fruits... And whence comes this change but only through the grace that we spoke of, namely, that he elected and chose us for his children before we were born into the world.<sup>66</sup>

For Calvin, being an adopted child of God is vital to the Christian life. Becoming a Christian is not a joke; it is not to be taken lightly. One who is a child of God is to live like it—representing what his Father did, who his Father is, and how his Father acts. In other words, Calvin saw that believers are to represent the very image of their new heavenly Father. Upon adoption, the fruits of believers' lives are to be holy and done in a loving way that represents their Father. They are to put away the lusts of the flesh and to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Calvin, Calvin's Commentaries on Ephesians, 198.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Ephesians, 35.

revel in the fact that they are now the sons and daughters of the Almighty God, and as

such, want to portray their Father in whatever they do.<sup>67</sup>

Adoption calls one to live a life of suffering. In Calvin's Commentary on Romans

chapter 8, verse 17 he states:

We are co-heirs with Christ, provided, in entering on our inheritance, we follow him in the same way in which he has gone before. And he (Paul) thus made mention of Christ, because we have by his grace been *adopted* as his children; and that it may be doubtful, its possession has already conferred on Christ, whose partners we are become: but Christ came to the cross; then we must come to it in the same manner.<sup>68</sup>

Calvin understood that those adopted are to follow after Christ-their elder Brother-in

that they are called to suffer as well; that it is a duty to suffer like Christ. Calvin's view of

partaking in the inheritance as adopted sons and daughters of God is that it ought to be

like that of Christ in every way. The child of God is to be remade into his image and

partake of his suffering.

Adoption calls one to live a prayerful life. While dealing with Romans 8:16,

Calvin says the following about the Spirit through whom we cry *Abba*:

For we must ever hold fast this principle, -that we do not rightly pray to God, unless we are surely persuaded in our hearts, that he is our Father, when we so call him with out lips. To this there is a corresponding part, - that our faith has no true evidence, expect we call upon God. It is not then without reason that Paul, bringing us to test, shows that it then only appears how truly any one believes, when they who have embraced the promise of grace, exercise themselves in prayers.<sup>69</sup>

Calvin preached a sermon entitled, "Crying Out to God in the Certainty of Our

Adoption," and on the topic of prayer in the life of the adopted, states that "we know that

God demands this (prayer) sacrifice of us all – that we call upon him and take refuge in

him – for this is a way of proving he is our Father and the source of all good things."70

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Calvin, *Institutes of the Christian Religion*, 2.14.5, on Calvin's view on the person of Christ and adoption.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Calvin, Calvin's Commentaries on Romans, 301-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Ibid., 299-300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Galatians, 381-82.

It is a blessing that believers can pray and call upon their Father, but Calvin expressed how important it was to recognize that exercising prayer is not merely a blessing, but a responsibility for one living as a child of God.

Adoption calls one to live a life that is in pursuit of holiness. When preaching on Ephesians chapter one, Calvin says, "But yet we must always bear in mind that God's electing of us was in order to call us to holiness of life. For if he should let us alone still as wretched castaways, surely we could do nothing but all manner of wickedness according to the corruption that is in us."<sup>71</sup>

He went on to say:

For we are not elected to give ourselves over to permissiveness, but to show by our deeds that God has adopted us to be children and taken us into his keeping in order to dwell in us by his Holy Spirit and to unite us to himself in all perfection of righteousness.<sup>72</sup>

For Calvin, being adopted was not a "free ticket" into heaven; rather, it was a constant reminder—a constant responsibility—for believers that they are to live a life that is always pursuing holiness, until the day that they are united with their heavenly Father. Calvin believed that a person acts according to the family they are a part of... if one is Satan's child and a part of this world, then he acts accordingly; but if one is a child of God, then he is to act like it, living every day in pursuit of the example that Christ has given.

Adoption calls one to live an indebted life. When preaching on election and adoption from his sermon on Ephesians chapter one, Calvin says, "Let us notice that in this place St. Paul exhorts us to acknowledge ourselves *indebted* to God for the virtue and goodness that is in us."73

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Ephesians, 36-7.
 <sup>72</sup> Ibid., 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Ibid., 39.

Calvin saw and proclaimed the importance of knowing that as adopted children of God, believers are to live always indebted to their Father for the pure grace that He has given to them. Adopted children of God are given the rights to a heavenly family and salvation, and as adopted children, they are now owned by the Father. Because of the great grace and blessings that this adoption gave the believer, Calvin understood that everything every move, every sound, every accomplishment, every second—is owned by God. This is clearly seen in his preaching as he ends his sermon on Ephesians 5:11-14 saying:

Now if we are so much bound to a mortal man as to maintain his honor when we are kept at his expense, what ought we to do for our God? Are we not in his house as long as we live in this world? Have we so much as one drop of water except by his goodness and generosity? Behold, God has a fatherly care over us, and yet we allow his name to be blasphemed, his majesty to be robbed and spoiled of all reverence, his Word to be torn in pieces, all order (that he has commanded) to be broken, the church (which is his wife) to be corrupted and misused, and his children to be debauched, and in the meanwhile we keep our mouths closed. I ask you, whether such silence does not sufficiently show that we are not worthy to eat one more morsel of bread, nor to be counted in the number of earthworm, lice, bugs, and all the vilest and filthiest things of the world?

Therefore let us think well upon it, that we shall be found guilty of the despising of God's majesty (as we see) because we do not rebuke men's vices. That is a reason why the wicked and profane become bolder and imagine they have won all to their side, and triumph in their despising of God in that way. It comes partly as a result of our silence.<sup>74</sup>

Calvin saw living an indebted life, a life of duty and honor to the Father, was living a life

for, to, and in the Father's blessing.

Adoption calls one to praise the Father. Towards the end of his sermon on

Ephesians chapter one, Calvin speaks about faith being a fruit of election, and relates this

to adoption and how all praise is due to our heavenly Father:

To be brief, it is not without reason that St. Paul says here that God's praise shall never be glorified as it ought to be till we acknowledge his election to be the cause of all the benefits he bestows upon us, and that if he had not adopted us by his infinite mercy according to his eternal counsel, we should take part of the praise to ourselves which is due to him.<sup>75</sup>

Calvin truly understood—and wanted others to as well—that adoption is more than

blessings and privileges alone. It is also more than duties and responsibilities. Adoption

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Ibid., 525. <sup>75</sup> Ibid., 44.

into the family of God ought to cause believers to react in such a way that their heart bursts with joy and praise for what God has done for them. According to Calvin, seeing God as perfector of man's salvation ought to bring forth a life that praises the Trinity constantly for the work that has been done in the believer's heart.

Adoption calls one to live an obedient life in cross bearing.<sup>76</sup> In his Institutes,

Calvin says the following about cross bearing in the life of the adopted:

Those whom the Lord has chosen and honored with his intercourse must prepare for a hard. Laborious, troubled life, a life full of many and various kinds of evils: it being the will of our heavenly Father to exercise his people in this way while putting them to the proof. Having begun this course with Christ the first-born, he continues it towards all his children.<sup>77</sup>

He then ends the section entitled "What the Cross Is" by saying:

How powerfully should it soften the bitterness of the cross, to think that the more we are afflicted with adversity, the surer we are made of our fellowship with Christ; by communion with whom our sufferings are not only blessed to us, but tend greatly to the furtherance of our salvation.<sup>78</sup>

Calvin saw the importance of the believer's suffering in adoption—that is, carrying their own cross and doing so in obedience, imaging their elder brother Jesus.<sup>79</sup> Like a toddler looks to his older brother for guidance, this is what God's adopted do. They focus on Christ, their Elder Brother, for guidance in living as co-heirs with Him. As one is to live as co-heir with Christ, Calvin understood that this involved looking at what Christ had done at the cross. In Christ's suffering one is given an example for life.

Adoption calls one to live a life that desires the third use of the Law. It would be unthinkable to write a paper on John Calvin's view of the duties and responsibilities of adoption, without making mention of his view on the third use of the Law. Dr. Timothy Trumper expresses this best as he makes mention of this exact issue in the beginning section about obedience of his dissertation. It states:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Trumper, "An Historic Study of the Doctrine of Adoption in the Calvinistic Tradition," 199-202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion, 3.8.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Ibid., 3.8.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Calvin, Calvin's Commentaries on Romans, 318.

Ever since God revealed himself father to us," says Calvin, "we must prove our ungratefulness to him if we did not in turn show ourselves as sons. (Mal. 1:6; Eph. 5:1; 1 John 3:1)<sup>80</sup> Gratitude is therefore registered by obedience to the Father's will.<sup>81</sup>

Calvin saw that the Law aids the adopted in the process of sanctification. It is the duty of

the sons and daughters of God to live in obedience to the Law in order to continually

present themselves as His children.

Calvin states on the third use of the Law in the Institutes:

The third use of the Law has respect to believers in whose hearts with the Spirit of God already flourishes and reigns... For it is the best instrument for the enabling them daily to learn with greater truth and certainty what that will of the Lord is which they aspire to follow, and to confirm them in this knowledge; just as a servant who desires with all his soul to approve himself to his master, must still observe, and be careful to ascertain his master's dispositions, that he may comport himself in accommodation to them.<sup>82</sup>

Elsewhere in the Institutes, Calvin shows that the Law helps develop obedience to the

Father.<sup>83</sup> However, the best chapter for a further study on John Calvin's view of

obedience in relationship to the third use of the Law in relation to the doctrine of

adoption is once more from Timothy Trumper's dissertation.<sup>84</sup>

Adoption calls one to live a life of humility. I cannot think of any other way to

end, than Calvin's own concluding thoughts from his only sermon ever preached on the

doctrine of adoption, from Galatians 4:4-7 in which he says:

Now let us fall before the presence of our great God, acknowledging our sins, and praying that he would make us aware of them so that we *humble ourselves before him*. At the same time, let us not lose courage, since he accepts us, willingly designs to listen to our petitions when we come to him in complete trust. May he grant us grace to overcome all problems and hindrances, and all the arguments and questions that the devil sets our hearts, that we may know the truth of that promises, that whoever calls upon the name of the Lord will be saved. Thus, we all say, Almighty God, and our *heavenly Father*.<sup>85</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion, 3.6.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Trumper, "An Historic Study of the Doctrine of Adoption in the Calvinistic Tradition." 190.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion, 2.7.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Ibid., 2.8.5; 3.8.9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Cf. For John Calvin's view of *Obedience* and the third use of the Law in relation to the doctrine of Adoption, Timothy Trumper, "An Historic Study of the Doctrine of Adoption in the Calvinistic Tradition," 190-202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Calvin, John Calvin's Sermons on Galatians, 384.

## **Bibliography**

- A Concordance to Calvin's Institutes 1559. Based on the Critical Text of Petrus Barth and Guilelmus Nisel. 6 vols. Compiled by Richard F Weavers. Grand Rapids, MI: Digamma Publishers, 1992.
- A Harmony of the Gospels Matthew, Mark, and Luke. 4 vols. Translated by A. W. Morrison and Edited by D. W. Torrance and T. F. Torrance. Edinburgh: The Saint Andrew Press, 1972.
- A History of Christian Doctrine. Edited by Hubert Cunliffe-Jones. First published 1978. Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1997.
- A practical consideration of the saints sonship. In a discourse upon the fourth chapter of the Galatians, vers. 6. London: Robert Ibbitson, 1656.
- Ames, William. *The Marrow of Theology*. Translated and edited John D. Eusden. Boston: Pilgrim Press, 1968.
- Bagchi, David and David C. Steinmetz, eds. *The Cambridge Companion to Reformation Theology*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- Baird, Samuel J. "The Fatherhood of God." Presbyterian Quarterly 5 (1891): 350-62.
- Barclay, George. *Essays: on Doctrinal, Experimental, and Prophetical Subjects*. Irvine: for the author, and sold by Waugh and Innes, et al., 1828.
- Barr, James. "Abba Isn't Daddy." Journal of Theological Studies 39 (1988): 28-47.
- Bates, William. *The Whole Works of the Rev. W. Bates, D.D.* Vol. 4. Edited by W. Farmer. Reprint, Harrisonburg, VA: Sprinkle, 1990.
- Beattie, Francis R. *The Presbyterian Standards: An Exposition of the Westminster Confession of Faith and Catechisms.* Richmond, VA: Presbyterian Committee of Publication, 1896.
- Beeke, Joel R. *The Quest for Full Assurance: The Legacy of Calvin and His Successors.* Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1999.
- Berry, Stephen R. "Sons of God': An Examination of the Doctrine of Adoption in the Thought of John Lafayette Girardeau." Unpublished paper submitted to Systematic Theology department, Reformed Theological Seminary (Jackson), 1994.
- Binning, Hugh. *The Works of the Rev. Hugh Binning, M.A.* Edited by M. Leishman. Reprint, Ligonier, PA: Soli Deo Gloria, 1992.
- Blekkink, Evert J. *The Fatherhood of God Considered from Six Inter-Related Standpoints*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1942.
- Boice, James Montgomery. Foundations of the Christian Faith: A Comprehensive & Readable Theology. Downers Grove, IL: InterVarsity Press, 1986.

Booth, Abraham. The Reign of Grace. Swengel, PA: Reiner, 1968.

- Boston, Thomas. *The Complete Works of the Late Rev. Thomas Boston, Ettrick.* Edited by Samuel M'Millan. Reprint, Wheaton, IL: Richard Owen Roberts, 1980.
- Bouwsma, W J. "Calvin and the Renaissance Crisis of Knowing" in *Articles on Calvin and Calvinism*. Edited by Richard C. Gamble. Vol. 7, *The Organizational Structure of Calvin's Theology*. New York and London: Garland Publishing Inc., 1992.

. "Explaining John Calvin" in *Articles in Calvin and Calvinism*. Edited by Richard C. Gamble. Vol. 1. *The Biography of Calvin*. New York and London: Garland Publishing Inc., 1992.

. John Calvin: A Sixteenth Century Portrait. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1988.

- Box, G.H. "Adoption." In *Encyclopedia of Religion and Ethics*. Edited by James Hastings. Edinburgh: T. & T. Clark, 1908.
- Boyce, James P. Abstract of Systematic Theology. Reprint, Hanford, CA: den Dulk Christian Foundation, n.d.
- Brakel, Wilhelmus à. *The Christian's Reasonable Service*, vol. 2 and 3. Translated by Bartel Elshout. Edited by Joel R. Beeke. Grand Rapids: Reformation Heritage Books, 1999.
- Breckinridge, Robert J. *The Knowledge of God*, *Subjectively Considered*. New York: Robert Carter & Brothers, 1859.

Brooks, Thomas. The Works of Thomas Brooks. Reprint, Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 2001.

Brown of Haddington, John. An Essay towards an easy, plain, practical, and extensive Explication of the Assembly's Shorter Catechism. New York: Robert Carter & Brothers, 1849.

. *The Systematic Theology of John Brown of Haddington*. Grand Rapids: Reformation Heritage Books, 2002.

- Bruce, Archibald. "St. Paul's Conception of Christianity: 10. Adoption." In *The Expositor*, 4<sup>th</sup> series, VIII (1893).
- Bruggink, Donald. "Calvin and Federal Theology" in *Articles on Calvin and Calvinism*. Edited by Richard C. Gamble, Vol. 8, *An Elaboration of Theology of John Calvin*. New York & London: Garland Publishing Inc., 1992.
- Buchanan, James. *The Doctrine of Justification*. Reprint, Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1991.
- Bull, George. A Discourse Concerning the Spirit of God in the Faithful; how, and in what Manner it doth bear Witness with their Spirits, that they are the Children of God; and what Degree of Hope or Persuasion concerning their Adoption, this Witness of the Spirit doth ordinarily produce in the Faithful. Boston: Thomas Fleet, 1740.

- Bulman, James M. "The Place of Knowledge in Calvin's View of Faith" in Articles on Calvin and Calvinism. Edited by Richard C. Gamble. Vol. 7, The Organizational Structure of Calvin's Theology. New York: Garland Publishing Inc., 1992.
- Burgess, Anthony. *CXLV Expository Sermons Upon the whole 17<sup>th</sup> Chapter of the Gospel According to John*. London: Abraham Miller for Thomas Underhill, 1656.

\_\_\_\_. *Spiritual Refining: or A Treatise of Grace and Assurance*. London: A. Miller for Thomas Underhill, 1652.

Burke, Trevor J. "Adoption and the Spirit in Romans 8." *Evangelical Quarterly* 70 (1998):311-24.

. "The Characteristics of Paul's Adoptive-Sonship (Huiothesia) Motif." Irish Biblical Studies 17 (1995):62-74.

. "Pauline Adoption: A Sociological Approach." *Evangelical Quarterly* 73 (2001):119-34.

- Burris, Thomas S. "The Meaning of *Huiothesia* in the New Testament." Th.M. thesis, Dallas Theological Seminary, 1970.
- Burroughs, Jeremiah. *The Saints' Happiness, Delivered in Divers Lectures on the Beatitudes.* Reprint, Beaver Falls, PA: Soli Deo Gloria, 1988.
- Byrne, Brendan. 'Sons of God'—'Seed of Abraham': A Study of the Idea of the Sonship of God of All Christians in Paul Against the Jewish Background. Rome: Biblical Institute, 1979.

Calvin, John. Commentaries. 22 vols. Reprint, Grand Rapids: Baker, 2005.

. *Commentaries*. Vol. 23. Translated by J. Haroutunian and L. Pettibone Smith. The Library of Christian Classics. London: SCM Press Ltd., 1958.

. *Calvin: Institutes of the Christian Religion.* Edited by John T. McNeill and translated by Ford Lewis Battles. Philadelphia: Westminster Press, 1960.

\_\_\_. *Theological Treatises*. Vol. 22. Translated with an Introduction and notes by J. K. S. Reid. The Library of Christian Classics. London: SCM Press Ltd., 1958.

\_\_\_\_\_. *Tracts and Treatises*. 3 vols. Translated from the original Latin and French by Henry Beveridge. Historical Notes and Introduction to the current edition by T.F. Torrance. Edinburgh: Calvin Translation Society, 1844. Edinburgh and London: Oliver and Boyd, 1958.

\_\_\_\_. Commentaries on the First Book of Moses called Genesis. 2 vols. Translated from the original Latin, and compared with the French Edition. Edinburgh: The Calvin Translation Society, 1850.

\_\_\_\_. Commentaries on the Last Four Books of Moses arranged in the Form of a Harmony of the Pentateuch. Translated by C. W. Bingham. Edinburgh: The Calvin Translation Society, 1854.

\_\_. *Gebete zu den Vorlesungen uber Jeremia Hesekial.* Ubersetz vin Werner Dahm. Munchen: Chr. Kaiser Verlag, 1934.

. *Genesis*. A Geneva Series Commentary. Translated and edited by John King. Reprinted from the Calvin Translation Society edition 1847. Carlisle, PA: The Banner of Truth Trust, 1992.

. *Institutes of the Christian Religion* (1536 ed.). Translated and annotated by Ford Lewis Battles. First published 1975; revised ed., Grand Rapids, MI: Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Co., 1986.

\_\_\_\_. *Ioannis Calvini Opera Quae Supersunt Omnia*. Vols. 1-55. Edderunt Guilielmus Baum, Eduard Cunnitz, Eduardus Reuss, in *Corpus Reformatorum*. Vols. 29-84. Brunsvigae: C.A. Schwetschke et Filium (M Bruhn): 1863-1900.

\_\_\_\_. Joannis Calvini Opera Selecta. 5 vols. Edidt Petrus Barth. Monacghi in Aedibus: Chr. Kasier, 1926-36.

\_\_\_\_. *Letters of John Calvin*. 4 vols. Compiled from the original manuscripts and edited with historical notes by Dr. Jules Bonnet. Translated from the original Latin and French. New York, NY: Burt Franklin Reprints, 1972.

\_\_\_. Sermons on Election and Reprobation. Translated by John Field. Audubon, N.J.: Old Paths Publications, 1996.

\_\_\_\_. Sermons on Galatians. Translated by Kathy Childress. Audubon, NJ: Old Paths Publications, 1995.

\_\_\_\_\_. *Sermons on the Book of Micah*. Translated and edited by Benjamin Wirt Farley. Phillipsburg, N.J.: P&R Publishing, 2003.

\_\_\_. Sermons on the Epistle to the Ephesians. First published in French, 1562. English translation by Arthur Golding. First published 1577. Revised translation. Edinburgh and Carisle, PA: The Banner of Truth Trust, 1983.

\_\_\_. Sermons on the Epistles to Timothy & Titus. Facsimile ed. Of 1579. Reprinted ed. Edinburgh and Carlisle, PA: The Banner of Truth Trust, 1983.

\_\_\_\_. *The Acts of the Apostles 1-13*. Calvin's Commentaries. Translated by John Fraser and W J G McDonald. Edited by David W. Torrance and Thomas F. Torrance. Edinburgh: The Saint Andrew Press, 1965.

\_\_\_. *The Acts of Apostle 14-28. Calvin's Commentaries*. Translated by J W Fraser and edited by David W. Torrance and Thomas F. Torrance. Edinburgh and London: Oliver and Boyd, 1966.

\_\_\_\_. *The Catechisme or Manner to Teach Children the Christian Religion*. Middleburgh: Robert Schilders, 1597.

\_\_\_\_. *The Epistles of Paul the Apostle to the Hebrews and the First and Second Epistles of St. Peter.* Calvin's Commentaries. Translated by T. H. L. Parker and edited by D. W. Torrance and T. F. Torrance . Edinburgh and London: The Saint Andrew Press, 1961.

\_\_\_\_. *The Epistles of Paul the Apostle to the Corinthians*. Calvin's Commentaries. Translated by J. W. Fraser and edited by D. W. Torrance and T. F. Torrance. Edinburgh and London: Oliver and Boyd, 1960.

. *The Gospel according to St. John 1-10.* Calvin's Commentaries. Translated by T. H. L. Parker and edited by D. W. Torrance and T. F. Torrance. First published 1959. Reprint ed., Edinburgh and London: Oliver and Boyd, 1979.

\_\_\_\_. *The Gospel according to St. John 11-21*. Calvin's Commentaries. Translated by T. H. L. Parker and edited by D. W. Torrance and T. F. Torrance. Edinburgh: The Saint Andrew Press, 1961.

\_\_\_. *The Piety of John Calvin: An Anthology Illustrative of the Spirituality of the Reformer*. Translated and edited by Ford Lewis Battles. Music edited by Stanley Tagg. Grand rapids, MI: Baker Book House, 1978.

\_\_\_\_. *The Second Epistle of Paul the Apostle to the Corinthians, the Epistles of timothy, Titus, Philemon.* Translated by T A Smail and edited by D W Torrance and T F Torrance. Edinburgh and London: Oliver and Boyd, 1964.

Candlish, Robert S. *Discourses bearing upon the Sonship and Brotherhood of Believers and other kindred subjects*. Edinburgh: Adam and Charles Black, 1872.

. *The Fatherhood of God.* 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Edinburgh: Adam and Charles Black, 1865.

Charnock, Stephen. The Complete Works of Stephen Charnock. Edinburgh: James Nichol, 1865.

- Cole, Thomas. A Discourse of Christian Religion, in Sundry Points... Christ the Foundation of our Adoption, from Gal. 4. 5. London: for William Marshall, 1698.
- Collinson, Patrick. "England and International Calvinism, 1558-1640" in *International Calvinism* 1541-1715. Edited by Menna Pretwich. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1985.
- Cook, James I. "The Conception of Adoption in the Theology of Paul." In *Saved by Hope: Essays in Honor of Richard C. Oudersluys,* pp. 133-44. Edited by James I. Cook. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1978.
- Cooke, Gordon. "The Doctrine of Adoption and the Preaching of Jeremiah Burroughs." In *Eternal Light, Adoption and Livingstone.* Congregational Studies Conference Papers, 1998 (published by the Evangelical Fellowship of Congregational Churches).
- Cooper, John W. Our Father in Heaven: Christian Faith and Inclusive Language. Grand Rapids: Baker, 1998.
- Cotton, John. An Exposition of First John. Reprint, Evansville, IN.: Sovereign Grace Publishers, 1962.

- Crabb, John. A Testimony concerning the VVorks of the Living God. Shewing how the mysteries of his workings hath worked many wayes in and amongst mankind. Or, The knowledge of God revealed, which shews the way from the bondage of darkness into the liberty of the Sons of God. London: John Gain, 1682.
- Crawford, Thomas. *The Fatherhood of God Considered in Its General and Special Aspects and Particularly in Relation to the Atonement with a Review of Recent Speculations on the Subject.* 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Edinburgh: William Blackwood and Sons, 1868.
- Criswell, W.A. *Great Doctrines of the Bible, Volume 5: Soteriology.* Grand Rapids: Zondervan: 1985.
- DeJonge, M. "The Son of God and the Children of God in the Fourth Gospel." In Saved by Hope: Essays in Honor of Richard C. Oudersluys, pp. 44-63. Edited by James I. Cook. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1978.
- Dick, John. Lectures on Theology. Philadelphia: J. Whetham & Son, 1841, 2:224-33.
- Dickinson, Jonathan. The Witness of the Spirit. A sermon preached at Newark in New-Jersey, May 7th. 1740. Wherein is distinctly shewn, in what way and manner the Spirit himself beareth witness to the adoption of the children of God. Boston: S. Kneeland and T. Green, 1740.
- Donner, Herbert. "Adoption oder Legitimation? Erwägungen zur Adoption im Alten Testament auf dem Hintergrund der altorientalischen Rechte." Oriens Antiquus 8 (1969):87-119.
- Dorman, Robert C. "A Study of Paul's Use of *Huiothesia:* Its Background, Development, and Importance Concerning Spiritual Adoption." Th.M. thesis, Covenant Theological Seminary, St. Louis, 1997.
- Douty, Norman F. Union with Christ. Swengel, PA.: Reiner, 1973.
- Dowey, Edward A, Jr. *The Knowledge of God in Calvin's Theology*. Columbia University Press, 1952. Expanded edition, Grand Rapids, MI: Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Co., 1994.
- Downame, George. A Treatise of Ivstification. London: Felix Kyngston for Nicolas Bourne, 1633.
- Drake, Roger. "The Believer's Dignity and Duty Laid Open, in the High Birth wherewith he is Privileged, and the Honourable Employment to which he is Called." In *Puritan Sermons 1659-1689: Being the Morning Exercises at Cripplegate, St. Giles in the Fields, and in Southwark by Seventy-five Ministers of the Gospel in or near London.* Reprint, Wheaton, IL: Richard Owen Roberts, 1981.
- Drexel, Jeremias. A Spiritual Repository containing Godly meditations demonstrated by 12 signs of our adoption to eternal glory. Translated by R. W. London: R. B., 1676.
- Dwight, Timothy. *Theology: Explained and Defended, in a Series of Sermons.* Middletown, CT: Clark & Lyman, 1818.

- Ebel, Frank J., Jr. "The Christian's Filial Relationship to God." Th.M. thesis, Dallas Theological Seminary, 1957.
- Erickson, Millard J. Christian Theology. 2nd ed. Grand Rapids: Baker, 1985.
- Evans, Robert Wilson. Parochial Sermons preached in the Parish Church of Heversham, Westmoreland. London: Francis & John Rivington, 1846.
- Feigin, Samuel. "Some Cases of Adoption in Israel." *Journal of Biblical Literature* 50 (1931):186-200.

Ferguson, Sinclair B. Children of the Living God. Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1989.

. *The Holy Spirit.* Downers Grove, IL: InterVarsity Press, 1996.

\_\_\_\_\_. *Know Your Christian Life: A Theological Introduction*. Downers Grove, IL: InterVarsity Press, 1981.

. John Owen on the Christian Life. Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1987.

. "The Reformed Doctrine of Sonship." In *Pulpit and People: Essays in Honour of William Still on his 75<sup>th</sup> Birthday*. Edited by Nigel M. de S. Cameron and Sinclair B. Ferguson. Edinburgh: Rutherford House Books, 1986..

- Fishburn, J.F. *The Fatherhood of God and the Victorian Family: The Social Gospel.* Philadelphia: Fortress, 1981.
- Fisher, James. *The Assembly's Shorter Catechism Explained, by way of Question and Answer*. Reprint, Lewes, East Sussex: Berith Publications, 1998.
- Flavel, John. The Works of John Flavel. Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1997.
- Fong, Ken. Secure in God's Embrace. Downers Grove, IL: InterVarsity Press, 2003.
- Forbes, John. A Letter for resolving this Question: How a Christian man may discerne the testimonie of Gods spirit, from the testimonie of his owne spirit, in witnessing his Adoption. Middelburg: Richard Schilders, 1616.
- Ford, Simon. The Spirit of Bondage and Adoption: Largely and Practically handled, with reference to the way and manner of working both those Effects; and the proper Cases of Conscience belonging to them both. London: T. Maxey, for Sa. Gellibrand, 1655.
- Franchino, T. Scott. "Yios and Teknon in the Doctrine of Adoption: Romans 8." Th.M. thesis, Grace Theological Seminary, 1984.
- Frey, Joseph Samuel C.F. A Course of Lectures on the Scripture Types with a Few Select Sermons. New York: D. Fanshaw, 1841.
- Frey, Roland. "Calvin's Theological Use of Figurative Language" in *John Calvin and the Church: A Prism of Reform*. Edited by Timothy George. Louisville, KY: Westminster/John Knox Press, 1990.

- G., M. *The Glorious Excellencie of the Spirit of Adoption*. London: Jane Coe, for Henry Overton, 1645.
- Gadsby, John. Slavery, Adoption, and Redemption: Biblically, Orientally, and Personally Considered. Reprint, New Ipswich, NH: Pietan, 1994.
- Gamble, Richard C, ed. *Articles on Calvin and Calvinism*. 14 vols. New York: Garland Publishing Company Inc., 1992.
- Garner, David B. "Adoption in Christ." Ph.D. dissertation, Westminster Theological Seminary, 2002.

\_\_\_\_\_. "Irenaeus: Fountain Father of Adoption Theology." Unpublished paper, Westminster Theological Seminary, Philadelphia, 1999.

- Garrett, James Leo. Systematic Theology: Biblical, Historical, & Evangelical. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1995.
- Gill, John. A Complete Body of Doctrinal and Practical Divinity. Reprint, Paris, AK: Baptist Standard Bearer, 1987.
- Gillespie, George. A Treatise of Miscellany Questions. Edinburgh: Gedeon Lithgovv, for George Svvintuun, 1649.
- Girardeau, John L. *Discussion of Theological Questions*. Edited by George A. Blackburn. Reprint, Harrisonburg, VA: Sprinkle Publications, 1986.
- Gladden, W. "The Fatherhood of God as a Theological Factor." *The Homiletic Review* 37 (1899): 201-208.
- Godfrey, W. Robert. *Reformation Sketches: Insights into Luther, Calvin, and the Confessions.* Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing, 2003.
- Goodwin, Thomas. The Works of Thomas Goodwin. Reprint, Eureka, CA: Tanski, 1996.
- Gouge, William. A Gvide to Goe to God: or, An explanation of the perfect Patterne of Prayer, The Lords Prayer, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. London: G.M. for Edward Brewster, 1636.
- Granger, Thomas. A Looking-Glasse for Christians. Or, The Comfortable Doctrine of Adoption. London: William Iones, 1620.
- Greef, Wulfert de. *The Writings of John Calvin: An Introduction Guide*. Translated by Lyle D. Bierma. Grand Rapids: Baker Books, 1993.
- Griffith, Howard. "The First Title of the Spirit': Adoption in Calvin's Soteriology." *Evangelical Quarterly* 73 (2001): 135-53.
- Grudem, Wayne. Systematic Theology: An Introduction to Biblical Doctrine. Grand Rapids: Zondervan, 1994.

- Hawker, Robert. "The Adopted Child." In *The Works of the Rev. Robert Hawker, D.D.* London: for Ebenezer Palmer, 1831.
- Hodge, A.A. Outlines of Theology. Reprint, Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1986.
  - . The Confession of Faith. Reprint, Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1998.

Hoekema, Anthony A. Saved by Grace. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1989.

- Hooker, Thomas. The Christians Tvvo Chiefe Lessons. London: T. B[adger] for P. Stephens and C. Meredith, at the Golden Lion in S. Pauls Churchyard, 1640. Reprint, Ames, IA: International Outreach, 2002.
- Hopkins, Ezekiel. *The Works of Ezekiel Hopkins*. Edited by Charles W. Quick. Reprint, Morgan, PA:Soli Deo Gloria, 1997.
- Houston, T. The Adoption of Sons, Its Nature, Spirit, Privileges, and Effects: A Practical and Experimental Treatise. Edinburgh: Alex Gardner, Paisley, 1872.

Hughes, Edwin Holt. God's Family. Cincinnati: Abingdon Press, 1926.

Hulse, Erroll. The Believer's Experience. Grand Rapids: Zondervan, 1980.

. "Recovering the Doctrine of Adoption." *Reformation Today* 105 (1988): 5-14.

Irons, Joseph. "Adoption." Zion's Witness 106 (May 1964): 250-54.

- Jarrel, W.A. "Adoption Not in the Bible Salvation." *The Review and Expositor* 15 (1918): 459-69.
- Jeremias, Joachim. *Abba: Studien zur neutestamentlichen Theologie und Zeitgeschichte.* Göttingen: VandenHoeck & Ruprecht, 1966.

\_\_\_. *The Central Message of the New Testament*. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1965.

- Johnston, Mark. G. Child of a King: The Biblical Doctrine of Sonship. Fearn, Rosshire: Christian Focus, 1997.
- Kelly, Douglas. "Adoption: An Underdeveloped Heritage of the Westminster Standards." *Reformed Theological Review* 52 (1993): 110-20.
- Kennedy, D. James. Truths that Transform. Old Tappan, NJ: Revell, 1974.
- Kennedy, H. "The Regulative Value for the Pauline Theology of the Conception of Christian Sonship." In *The Expositor*, 8<sup>th</sup> series, XI (1916):447-63; XII (1916):26-37.

Kennedy, John. Man's Relations to God. Edinburgh: John Mclaren, 1869.

King, S.A. "The Grace of Adoption." Union Seminary Magazine 22 (1910): 30-35.

Law, Thomas H. "The Grace of Adoption." *The Southern Presbyterian Review* 30 (1879): 275-88.

Leigh, Edward. A Treatise of Divinity. London, 1646.

Lidgett, J. Scott. *The Fatherhood of God in Christian Truth and Life*. Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1902.

Lloyd-Jones, Martyn. God the Holy Spirit. Wheaton, IL: Crossway, 2000, pp. 187-89.

\_\_\_\_. *Knowing the Times: Addresses Delivered on Various Occasions 1942-1977.* Carlisle, PA: Banner of Truth Trust.

Lyall, Francis. "Roman Law in the Writings of Paul—Adoption." *Journal of Biblical Literature* 88 (1969): 458-66.

\_\_\_\_\_. *Slaves, Citizens, Sons: Legal Metaphors in the Epistles*. Grand Rapids: Zondervan, 1984.

- M'Cheyne, Robert Murray. A Basket of Fragments. Reprint, Inverness: Christian Focus, 1975.
- Manton, Thomas. The Complete Works of Thomas Manton, D.D. London: James Nisbet, 1870.
- Marshall, Stephen. The Works of Mr Stephen Marshall, The First Part, [section 2:] The High Priviledge of Beleevers. They are the Sons of God. London: Peter and Edward Cole, 1661.
- Martin, Hugh. "Candlish's Cunningham Lectures." *British and Foreign Evangelical Review* 14 (1865): 720-87.
- Marvin, Danny R. "John's Use of *Uios* and *Teknon* Especially in the Constructions *Uios Theou* and *Tekna Theou*." Th. M. thesis, Western Conservative Baptist Seminary, Portland, OR: 1979.
- Mather, Cotton. The Sealed Servants of our God, Appearing with Two Witnesses, to produce a Well-Established Assurance of their being the Children of the Lord Almighty or, the Witness of the Holy Spirit, with the Spirit of the Beleever, to his Adoption of God; briefly and plainly Described. Boston: Daniel Henchman, 1727.
- Matthew, James. "The Doctrine of Sonship and the Sonship of Believers." *The Theological Review and the Free Church College Quarterly* 2 (1886):18-31.
- Mawhinney, Allen. "Baptism, Servanthood and Sonship." *Westminster Theological Journal* 49 (1987): 35-64.

. "The Family of God: One Model for the Church of the 90s." *Presbyterion* 19/2 (Fall 1993): 77-96.

\_\_\_\_. "God as Father: Two Popular Theories Reconsidered." *Journal of the Evangelical Theological Society* 31 (1988): 181-189.

\_\_\_. "*Huiothesia* in the Pauline Epistles: Its Background, Use, and Implications." Ph.D. dissertation, Baylor University, 1983.

- McKim, Donald K., ed. *The Cambridge Companion to John Calvin*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- McNeill, John T. *The History and Character of Calvinism*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1967.
- Meyer, Heinrich. Critical and Exegetical Hand-book to The Epistle of the Romans. New York: Funk & Wagnalls, 1889.
- Miller, C. John. Sonship: Discovering Light in the Gospel as Sons and Daughters of God. Jenkinton, PA: World Harvest Mission, 1997.
- Miller, John W. Calling God 'Father': Essays on the Bible, Fatherhood and Culture. New York: Paulist Press, 1999.
- Mitchell, Alex F., and John Struthers, eds. *Minutes of the Sessions of the Westminster Assembly of Divines... (November 1644 to March 1649).* Reprint, Edmonton: Still Waters Revival Books, 1991.
- Mitchell, R. The Fatherhood of God. London: Hamilton, Adams, and Co., 1879.
- Morey, Robert A. *The Saving Work of Christ: Studies in the Atonement*. Sterling, VA: Grace Abounding Ministries, n.d., pp. 189-97.
- Morgan, James. The Scripture Testimony of the Holy Spirit. Edinburgh: T. & T. Clark, 1865.
- Mosebrook, Keith Alan. "The Pauline Doctrine of the Adoption of Believers." Th.M. thesis, Dallas Theological Seminary, 1981.
- Murray, John. *Collected Writings: Systematic Theology*. Vol. 2. Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1977.
  - . *Redemption Accomplished and Applied*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1955.
- Owen, John. *The Works of John Owen*. Ed. William H. Gould. Reprint, London: Banner of Truth Trust, 1966.

Packer, James I. Keep in Step with the Spirit. Grand Rapids: Fleming H. Revell, 1984.

- . *Knowing God.* Downers Grove, IL: InterVarsity, 1973.
- Palmer, Edwin Hartshorn. Scheeben's Doctrine of Divine Adoption. Kampen: J.H. Kok, 1953.
- Parsons, Burk, ed. *John Calvin: A Heart for Devotion, Doctrine, and Doxology*. Orlando, FL: Reformation Trust Publishing, 2008.

- Perkins, William. The Workes of that Famovs and VVorthy Minister of Christ in the Vniuersitie of Cambridge, Mr. William Perkins. 3 vols. London: Iohn Legatt and Cantrell Ligge, 1612-13.
- Peterson, Robert. Adopted by God: From Wayward Sinners to Cherished Children. Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing, 2001.

. "Toward a Systematic Theology of Adoption." Presbyterion 27/2 (fall 2001): 120-31.

- Petto, Samuel. *The Voice of the Spirit. Or, An essay towards a discoverie of the witnessings of the Spirit.* London: Livewell Chapman, 1654.
- Reymond, Robert L. A New Systematic Theology of the Christian Faith. Nashville: Thomas Nelson, 1998.
- Ridgley, Thomas. Commentary on the Larger Catechism. Edmonton: Still Waters Revival Books, 1993.
- Riffe, Robert Lee. "A Study of the Figure of Adoption in the Pauline Epistles." Th.M. thesis, Dallas Theological Seminary, 1981.
- Roberts, Maurice. "The Doctrine of Adoption." Unpublished paper, delivered at Free Reformed Ministers' Conference in Puslinch, Ontario, 2003.
- Rosenmeir, Jesper. "Clearing the Medium': A Reevaluation of the Puritan Plain Style in Light of John Cotton's A Practicall Commentary Upon the First Epistle Generall of John." William and Mary Quarterly, 37, 4 (1980): 577-91.
- Rutherford, Samuel. *The Covenant of Life Opened, or A Treatise of the Covenant of Grace.* Edinburgh: Andro Anderson, for Robert Broun, 1655.
- Scott, James M. Adoption as Sons of God: An Exegetical Investigation Into the Background of Huiothesia in the Pauline Corpus. Tübingen: J.C.B. Mohr, 1992.
- Scudder, Henry. *The Christian's Daily Walk, in holy Security and Peace*. Reprint, Harrisburg, VA: Sprinkle, 1984.
- Selbie, W.B. The Fatherhood of God. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1936.
- Shaw, Robert. *The Reformed Faith: An Exposition of the Westminster Confession of Faith.* Reprint, Inverness: Christian Focus, 1974.
- Shepard, Thomas. *The Sincere Convert and The Sound Believer*. Reprint, Morgan, PA: Soli Deo Gloria, 1999.
- Shepherd, Samuel G. "The Pauline Doctrine of Sonship." Ph.D. dissertation, Southern Baptist Theological Seminary, 1951.
- Sibbes, Richard. The excellencie of the Gospell above the law Wherein the liberty of the sonnes of God is shewed. With the image of their graces here, and glory hereafter. Which affords

much comfort and great incouragement, to all such as begin timely, and continue constantly in the wayes of God. London: Tho. Cotes, 1639.

\_\_\_\_\_. "Yea and Amen; or, Precious Promises." In *Works of Richard Sibbes*. Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 2001.

Smail, Thomas A. The Forgotten Father. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1980.

- Sproul, R. C. Saved from What? Wheaton, IL: Crossway, 2002.
- Stibbe, Mark. From Orphans to Heirs: Celebrating Our Spiritual Adoption. Oxford: Bible Reading Fellowship, 1999.
- Stolt, Birgit. "Martin Luther on God as Father." Lutheran Quarterly 8 (1994): 385-95.
- Swetnam, James. "On Romans 8:23 and the 'Expectation of Sonship."" *Biblica* 48 (1967): 102-108.
- Tennent, John. "The Nature of Adoption." In Salvation in Full Color: Twenty Sermons by Great Awakening Preachers. Ed. Richard Owen Roberts. Wheaton, IL: International Awakening Press, 1994, pp. 233-50.
- Theron, Daniel J. "Adoption' in the Pauline Corpus." *Evangelical Quarterly* 28 (1956): 6-14.
- Thompson, E.M., ed. *Minutes of the Sessions of the Westminster Assembly of Divines, from August 4, 1643 to April 24, 1652.* 3 vols. Transcript from original in Dr. Williams Library, Queen Square, London. Held at the Library, New College, University of Edinburgh.
- Trumper, Tim J.R. "An Historical Study of the Doctrine of Adoption in the Calvinistic Tradition." Ph.D. dissertation, University of Edinburgh, 2001.

. "The Metaphorical Import of Adoption: A Plea for Realisation I and II: The Adoption Metaphor in Biblical Usage." *Scottish Bulletin of Evangelical Theology* 14 (1996): 129-45; 15 (1997): 98-115.

- Turretin, Francis. *Institutes of Elenctic Theology*. Trans. George Musgrave Giger. Edited by James T. Dennison, Jr. Phillipsburg, NJ: P & R, 1994.
- Twisse, William. *The Doctrine of the Synod of Dort and Arles, reduced to the practice.* Amsterdam: G.Thorp, 1631.
- Twisselman, W. Die Gotteskindschaft der Christen nach dem Neuen Testament. Gütersloh: Bertelsmann, 1939.
- Ussher, James. *A Body of Divinity: or, The Sum and Substance of Christian Religion*. London: J. D. for Nathaniel Ranew and Jonathan Robinson, 1677.

Van der Linde, S. De Leer van den Heiligen Geest bij Calvijn. Wageningen: H. Veenman, 1943.

- Van Dixhorn, Chad. "The Sonship Program, for Revival: A Summary and Critique." Westminster Theological Journal 61 (1999): 227-46.
- Vellanickal, Matthew. *The Divine Sonship of Christians in the Johannine Writings*. Rome: Biblical Institute, 1977.
- Vincent, Thomas. The Shorter Catechism of the Westminster Assembly Explained and Proved from Scripture. Reprint, Edinburgh: Banner of Truth Trust, 1980.
- Visser't, H. The Fatherhood of God in an Age of Emancipation. Philadelphia: Westminster, 1982.
- Waite, John. Of the Creatures Liberation from the Bondage of Corruption, Wherein is Discussed... [section V]: And lastly is discussed that glorious libertie of the sonnes of God into which the creature is to be reduced. York: Thomas Broad, 1650.
- Wanamaker, Charles A. "The Son and The Sons of God: A Study in Element of Paul's Christologial and Soteriological Thought." Ph.D. dissertation, University of Durham, 1980.
- Watson, J. *The Fatherhood of God, being the second Hartley Lecture delivered in Leeds, June 1898.* London: Thomas Mitchell, 1899.
- Watson, Thomas. *A Body of Divinity in a Series of Sermons on the Shorter Catechism*. London: A. Fullarton, 1845.
- Webb, Robert Alexander. *Christian Salvation: Its Doctrine and Experience*. Richmond, Va.: Presbyterian Committee of Publication, 1921.
  - . "The Fatherhood of God." Presbyterian Quarterly 5 (1891): 56-70.
  - . The Reformed Doctrine of Adoption. Reprint, Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1947.
- Wendel, Francois. Origins and Development of His Religious Thought. Translated by Philip Mairet. Grand Rapids: Baker Books, 2002.
- Wermuth, Robert E. "The Doctrine of Adoption in Paul's Ephesian Letter." Th.M. thesis, Covenant Theological Seminary, St. Louis, 1985.
- Westhead, Nigel. "Adoption in the Thought of John Calvin." Scottish Bulletin of Evangelical Theology 13 (1995): 102-115.
- Whaling, Thornton. "Adoption." Princeton Theological Review 21 (1923): 223-35.
- Widdicombe, Peter. *The Fatherhood of God from Origen to Athanasius*. Oxford: Clarendon, 1994.
- Willard, Samuel. *The Child's Portion: Or the unseen Glory of the Children of God, Asserted, and proved: Together with several other Sermons Occasionally Preached.* Boston: Samuel Green, to be sold by Samuel Phillips, 1684.

\_\_\_. *A Compleat Body of Divinity*. Reprint, New York: Johnson Reprint Corporation, 1969, pp. 482-91.

- Wilterdink, G. A. "The Fatherhood of God in Calvin's Thought." *Reformed Review* 30 (Autumn 1976): 9-22.
- Witsius, Herman. *The Economy of the Covenants Between God & Man.* Reprint, Kingsburg, CA: den Dulk Christian Foundation, 1990.

Woudenberg, Bernard. "Eternal Adoption." The Standard Bearer (Sept 1, 1990), 475-77.

- Wright, C.H.H. The Fatherhood of God and its Relation to the Person and Work of Christ and the Operations of the Holy Spirit.. Edinburgh: T. & T. Clark, 1867.
- Yohn, Rick. *Living Securely in an Unstable World: God's Solution to Man's Dilemma*. Portland, OR: Multnomah, 1985.
- Zachman, Randall C. *The Assurance of Faith: Conscience in the Theology of Martin Luther and John Calvin.* Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1993.